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DO NOT OPEN THE EXAM BOOKLET UNTIL TOLD TO DO SO. 

 

WRITE YOUR STUDENT ID NUMBER: __________________ 

         

                                    SECTION (day/eve): __________________ 

 

 

YOU MUST INCLUDE YOUR STUDENT ID AND THE SECTION (DAY OR EVENING) 

IN THIS EXAM BOOKLET AS REQUESTED ABOVE.  ALSO, INCLUDE THIS 

INFORMATION IN YOUR BLUE BOOK(s) OR TYPED ANSWERS.  

 

YOU SHOULD NOT INCLUDE YOUR NAME UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES. 

 

You are to hand in this “EXAM BOOKLET” (whether your exam was typed or handwritten) 

at the end of the exam.  

 

This is a three-hour examination.  Your success on this examination will depend on your careful 

analysis of the questions and the structure of your answers.  There will be no credit given for 

extended “treatises” on the areas of law presented by these questions, and you should therefore 

avoid any rambling discourses.  However, you should discuss with adequate particularity the issues 

and the applicable law for each question.  

 

It is mandatory that your answers exactly correspond to the number and/or letter of each 

question of this exam booklet (including subsections). Failure to do so shall result in point 

reductions. 

 

You will not receive any credit for answers written on this exam booklet. Your answers should be 

placed in your blue book or if typing on examsoft.  

 

This examination consists of twenty (20) questions. Five (5) are “short essay” questions; ten (10) 

are “essay” questions; and five (5) are “multiple choice” questions.  

 

The “short essay” questions are weighted at two (2) points each. The weight of the “essay 

questions” are set forth within the question and should be the basis of your time allocation per 

question. The “multiple choice” questions are weighted at five (5) points each.  
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It is imperative that you place your ANSWERS TO THE MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS in 

your blue book or with your typed answers on examsoft. There will be no credit given for answers 

that are included in this EXAM BOOKLET. 

 

It is your responsibility to check that your exam contains the correct number of questions -

twenty (20).      

      

No materials of any type are to be used in this examination.  Nor are you to discuss this examination 

with students from other sections unless, all examinations have been completed by all sections.  

Nor should you discuss this examination with a student who has not taken this exam during its 

regularly scheduled time because of an excused absence.  Infractions of the above will subject any 

students involved to disciplinary action, which may include expulsion from MSL. 

 

When finished, check to verify that your Student ID number is on this exam booklet and your blue 

book(s) or in your typed answers using examsoft. 

 

If you are handwriting the exam, make sure that each blue book is numbered sequentially 

(example, “Book 1 of 2”, “Book 2 of 3”, “Book 3 of 3”) and so forth.  

 

Whether you are typing your exam or using a blue book, you must hand in this exam booklet 

before you leave the class.  

 

FOR STUDENTS WHO HAVE HANDWRITTEN THE EXAM 

 

Place this EXAM BOOKLET inside your blue book(s) when signing out. 

 

STUDENTS WHO HAVE TYPED THE EXAM 

 

Complete the front page of a blue book and include the following information: Student ID, 

Section, and the word “TYPED”. Place this exam booklet inside the blue book when signing 

out. 

 

DO NOT SUBMIT ANY SCRAP BLUE BOOKS WHETHER YOUR EXAM WAS TYPED 

OR HANDWRITTEN. 

   

Again, failure to comply with the above shall result in point reductions, so carefully check to 

insure that you have complied with the above instructions. 

 

 

BEST WISHES FOR A HAPPY HOLIDAY AND 

A PROFESSIONAL CAREER THAT IS 

FUFILLING AND REWARDING! 

 

 

DO NOT BEGIN THE EXAM UNTIL INSTRUCTED TO DO SO 
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       EVIDENCE FINAL – FALL 2023 
    Professor Anthony A. Copani 

 

      SHORT ANSWER QUESTIONS 

 

QUESTIONS 1-5 (2pts each) 

 

You are to evaluate the following out of court statements to determine their admissibility at 

trial. After you have made your determination, indicate whether each statement is: 

 

HEARSAY 

NOT HEARSAY, or  

HEARSAY EXCEPTION. 

 

IF AN EXCEPTION, YOU MUST ALSO IDENTIFY THE APPROPRIATE EXCEPTION. 

 

In addition, you must briefly discuss the basis for your decision. Answers must be based 

upon the Federal Rules of Evidence. 

 

1.  Action for adultery. Wife offers evidence that a house guest after a visit had described 

a birthmark on Husband's buttocks to a mutual friend. The existence of the mark had 

previously been testified to by Wife, while Husband had previously testified that only 

his parents and Wife knew of the birthmark. 

 

2. A doctor writes a prescription for John for a newly developed drug by Pfzer called 

“Paxlovid” which is used to treat Covid.  Can this be used as evidence that John has 

contracted Covid. 

 

3.  On the issue as to whether a $10,000.00 transfer was a gift or a loan, statement by 

Transferor, "Here is your graduation present." 

 

4. Suit for property damage. At trial, Plaintiff seeks to introduce note that was found on 

Plaintiffs windshield when Plaintiff returned to her car that had been damaged when 

it was struck by another vehicle. The note stated, "I saw the accident. The car that hit 

you had license plate XYZ-111." The Defendant owned an automobile with the same 

plate number on the date of the accident. 

 

5. To show that the defendant was home, and therefore could have killed his wife, the      

prosecution calls Wife's lover, who testifies that when Husband was gone and the 

coast was clear, Wife always pulled down the shade in the living room, but when 

Husband was home, the shade was always open. The prosecutor calls a neighbor who 

testifies that on the night the murder occurred, the shade was open. 
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You must label your answers to correspond exactly to the numbers as set forth to the Questions 

above. FAILURE TO DO SO WILL RESULT IN NO CREDIT GIVEN FOR YOUR 

RESPONSES. 

  

 

      ESSAY QUESTIONS 

 
Questions 6-13 (5pts each) 

Question 14 - (10pts) 

Question 15 - (15pts) 

 

Question Six 

 

This is a robbery prosecution. The victim testifies on direct as follows: 

 
Q.  (By prosecutor) Ms. Jennifer do you see the man who robbed you in court today? 
A.  Yes, I do. 
Q.  Please point to him and describe what he's wearing. 
A.  He's the man right over there (pointing to the defendant) wearing the brown pants and 
 white shirt. 
 
Prosecutor: May the record show that the witness has pointed to the defendant? 
 
Judge: Yes.  
 
Q.  Ms. Jennifer, you also attended a lineup? 
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Did you identify anyone? 
A.  Yes, 
Q.  What did you tell the detective at the lineup? 
 
Defendant: Objection, your honor. It's hearsay.  
 
Judge: Overruled. The witness may answer. 
 
A. I told the detective that the defendant, who was one of the people in the lineup, was the 
one who robbed me. 

 

Was the court's ruling correct? What is the applicable FRE? Explain your answer. 

 

 

Question Seven 
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This is a personal injury case in which the plaintiff was injured in a head-on collision with the 

defendant. The plaintiff seeks to introduce in evidence an accident report prepared by a police 

officer. The police report includes the following notations: 

 
(1) “Defendant said he was going about 45 mph and didn’t realize that the roadway was icy”; 

 
(2)  “This collision was caused when the Defendant’s car crossed the center line into the plaintiff’s 

lane of traffic. 

 

The Defendant objects to the admission of the report. What are the issues raised? How should 

the Court rule? Explain your answer in detail. 

 

 

Question Eight 

 

Compare and contrast, “Admissions” with “Declaration Against Interests” listing five major 

distinctions. In your blue book, draw a “T” chart and label the left column “Admissions” and the 

right column, “Declarations Against Interests”. Number the columns “1 through 5”. Failure to set 

up columns will result in point reductions.  

 

If you are typing your answers, instead of a “T” column, label your answers with the heading of 

“Admissions” and list the distinctions “1 through 5” and the heading of “Declarations Against 

Interests” and list the distinctions “1 through 5.” 

 

 

Question Nine 

 

This is a robbery prosecution. The defense claims another person, Smith, actually committed the 

robbery and set up, the defendant Williams. Smith is subpoenaed for trial but asserts his Fifth 

Amendment privilege in court. The next defense witness is then called. 

 

Q: (By defendant’s lawyer) Mr. Gibbs were you with Smith two days after the robbery? 

A: Yes 

 

Q: Where? 

A: Over Smith’s house. 

 

Q: Was anyone else there with you? 

A: Jones was there also. 

 

Q: What did Smith say to you and Jones that day? 

 

Prosecutor: Objection, Hearsay 

 

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, if allowed, the witness will testify that Smith said,  

 

“I set up Williams so the police would bust him instead of me. Can’t believe it worked.” 
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Should the Court allow the statement? What is the applicable FRE?  

 

Question Ten 

 

The Plaintiff, Wilma, claims to be a widow. Wilma is suing the All-Life Insurance Company for 

payment of a life insurance policy on her husband, Harry. The only issue being contested is the 

question of whether or not Harry is dead. 

 

Wilma takes the stand and testifies that she has not heard from her husband in over seven years. 

(There is a presumption of death if a person has been missing for seven or more years.)  

 

Wilma further offers to testify that on the first night her husband was gone which was on April 1, 

2015, she found a note on the refrigerator in Harry’s handwriting, saying, “I’m off to catch 

Eastern Flight 257 to Miami with Jack. I’ll be back tomorrow night.” She has not heard from him 

since and cannot find the note. Jack is also missing.  

 

Is the note admissible at trial? If so, for what purpose? Explain your answer. 

 

 

Question Eleven 

 

This is a murder case. In the defendant's case-in-chief, the defendant calls a witness to testify 

to the defendant's reputation for being peaceful. The following then happens: 

 

Q: (By defendant's lawyer) Mr. Johnson do you know the defendant, Avery Smith? 
A:  Yes. 
 

Q: Do you have an opinion as to whether he is a peaceful person? 

A: Yes, I have an opinion. 

 

Q: What is your opinion based on? 

A: I've known Mr. Avery for about 10 years. He’s my neighbor. 

 

Q: What is your opinion as to whether Avery Smith is a peaceful person? 

A: It's great. I know him to be a gentle, quiet, peaceful kind of guy, all the years I've known him. 

 

Q: Specifically, Mr. Johnson, what's the basis for concluding that he's a peaceful person? 

A: Well, I know that one time he was confronted by a driver who cut him off and he just walked 

away instead of getting into a fight. 

 

Prosecutor: Objection, your honor.  

Court: Sustained 

 

Is the Court’s ruling correct? Explain your answer. 
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Question Twelve 

 

This is an assault case. The defense is self-defense. During the defendant’s case-in-chief, the 

defendant introduces evidence of the victim’s reputation for violence. The defendant does 

not testify. In the prosecution’s rebuttal case, the following happens: 

 

Judge: Prosecution, call your next witness.  

 

Judge: Counsel, approach the bench. [Lawyers come to the bench.]. Defense, what's the basis 

for the objection? 

 

Defendant: Your honor, I believe that the prosecution is calling Mary Martin to testify that the 

defendant has a reputation for violence. That's improper. We haven't opened the door to such 

evidence. We didn't call witnesses to testify as to the defendant's character, so there's been 

absolutely no evidence of the defendant's pertinent character. Consequently, there's nothing 

for the prosecution to rebut. 

 

How should the Court Rule? Explain your answer. 

 

 

Question Thirteen 

 

The Defendant is charged with conspiring to manufacture fentanyl. At trial, the Government offers 

photographs of papers seized at the house of a coconspirator which outlines the manufacturing 

process. On the stand, a DEA Agent reads from the photographs. Defense counsel objects.  

 

How should the Court rule? Explain your answer. 

 

 

Question Fourteen - (10pts) 

 

Professor Copani has a nephew named “Dante” who was born and raised in southern Italy. 

Recently, Dante came to the United States to visit with Professor Copani.  

 

Dante had always expressed an interest in becoming an attorney in Italy and had made many 

trips to the States. During his stay, Professor Copani invited Dante to the Massachusetts School 

of Law to observe his evidence class. While in class, Dante immediately became attracted to a 

female student. They both made eye contact throughout the class.  

 

Dan, one of the students in class, noticed this interaction and decided to have some fun. Dan was 

aware of a custom in southern Italy where, if a male was attracted to a female, it was a sign of 
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affection for him to “pat her butt”.  As the female student was walking out of the class, Dante 

was walking closely behind her. Dan cut in between them and then “patted the female’s butt” and 

then quickly moved away. 

 

The female student immediately turned and saw Dante and yelled at him, “How dare you slap 

my butt!” Dante looked at her and laughed. The female student has now brought assault and 

battery charges against Dante.  

 

Lee, who was in class, told Hannah that it was him that “patted the butt” of the female student. 

 
A) What evidence will the Commonwealth attempt to introduce at trial against Dante? 

 

B) What is the likelihood that the Court will admit this evidence?  Explain your answer 

applying the applicable federal rules of evidence. 

 
C) Can Lee’s testimony be allowed into evidence? Explain. 

 

 

Question Fifteen – (15pts) 

 

Mark is charged with murdering Laura. Mark and Laura have been involved in a significant 

dating relationship.  During this relationship, they argued frequently resulting in Mark being 

physically abusive to her. 

 

One day while visiting Laura at her home, Mark lost his temper and punched Laura several times 

in the stomach causing her to drop to the floor in great pain. 

 

While lying on the floor, Laura called 911 on her cell phone and stated to the operator that her 

boyfriend was beating her. At this point, Mark immediately ran out of the house. Laura, in 

response to the operator’s questioning, told the operator that Mark had left the house and gave a 

physical description of Mark and what he had done to her. At this time her neighbor, Jennifer, 

went to Laura’s house to determine the cause of the commotion. Laura answered the door and 

while crying hysterically, stated that Mark had punched her in the stomach several times causing 

her to fall to the floor in great pain.  

 

Shortly thereafter, the police arrived at the house and Laura gave Officer Smith a detailed 

description as to how Mark beat her that day and how he had done so frequently in the past.   

 

The police searched the area but were unable to locate Mark.  Two weeks later, Mark showed up 

at Laura’s home and shot and killed her.  At trial, Mark testifies that he shot Laura in self-

defense, thinking that she was advancing on him with a knife.  To rebut the self-defense claim 

the prosecution seeks to offer the following into evidence: 

 

a) Laura’s statements to the 911Operator; 
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b) Laura’s statement to Jennifer; 

c) Laura’s statement to Officer Smith; 

 

How should the Court rule on each statement? Discuss the issues that arise from this fact 

pattern?   

 

 

   

            MULTI-STATE QUESTIONS 

 

Questions 16-20 (5pts each) 

 

 

Question 16 

 
A man was on trial for date rape. The prosecution called a witness to testify. The witness testified 

that she was told by a bystander that he heard the man in the bathroom bragging about putting a 

“roofie” drug in his date’s cocktail. The man’s defense attorney objected, arguing that the 

testimony was inadmissible. 

 

Is the testimony admissible? 

 
A. No, because it is hearsay. 

B. No, because FRE 412 prohibits its admission. 

C. Yes, because it was an excited utterance. 

D. Yes, because it was a statement against interest. 

 

 

Question 17 
 

A man sued a doctor for malpractice. At trial, the doctor was unavailable to testify because she 

had left the country. The doctor did not give a deposition in this case, but had given a deposition 

in the past, under oath and subject to cross-examination, on the same subject matter as the instant 

case. The doctor’s attorney now seeks to introduce the doctor’s previous deposition into 

evidence. 

 

Is the doctor’s former deposition testimony considered inadmissible hearsay? 

 
A. No, because the doctor had previously given the deposition subject to cross-examination. 

B. No, because the doctor purposely made herself unavailable. 

C. Yes, because the deposition was in another matter. 

D. Yes, because the doctor is not available to testify at trial. 
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Question 18 

 

A woman went to visit her gynecologist for a regular yearly checkup. The doctor examined the 

women and told her, “based on your family history, you have a high risk of breast cancer. You 

really need to stop smoking, lose weight and perform a monthly self-examination. I also suggest 

you get a mammogram immediately. I’ll call the lab right now to schedule the tests if you like.” 

The doctor included this very same information, along with the note that he had advised her 

about the danger of breast cancer and the benefits of early detection in the women’s medical 

records. The women did not follow the doctor’s advice. A year later, the women was diagnosed 

with a serous form of breast cancer. The women sued the doctor for failure to warn her of the 

probability of breast cancer. The doctor’s attorney seeks to admit the woman’s medical file into 

evidence to prove that the doctor did in fact warn the woman about the dangers of breast cancer 

and the need for early detection.  

 

Is the patient’s medical record admissible to prove that the doctor adequately warned the patient? 

 
A. No, because the record is hearsay not within any exceptions. 

B. No, because the record must be entered by the plaintiff as the statement of a party opponent. 

C. Yes, because the record was made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. 

D. Yes, because the record is a business record. 

 

 

Question 19 

 
A delivery man sued a homeowner for injuries resulting when the delivery man tripped on a 

broken step leading to the homeowner’s front door. At trial, the delivery man’s attorney called a 

bystander to testify that just before the delivery man was injured, he heard him say, “It is so dark 

out here I can’t even see where I’m walking.” The homeowner’s attorney objected to the 

bystander’s testimony. 

 

Is the bystander’s testimony admissible? 

 
A. No, because it is hearsay not within a recognized exception. 

B. No, because only the delivery man has firsthand knowledge of the lighting conditions. 

C. Yes, as a statement of a party opponent. 

D. Yes, as a statement of present sense impression. 

 

 

Question 20 

 

A man was found beaten to death in his apartment. The police arrested one of the victim’s 

brothers. During the presentation of the state’s case-in-chief, the prosecution offered into 

evidence a sketch, which was authenticated by a police officer who testified that he found the 

victim lying bleeding and semi-conscious. The officer testified that when he asked the victim 
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what happened, the victim could not answer, because he was moaning in pain. The officer further 

testified that the victim grabbed a pencil and a newspaper from the floor and drew a picture of a 

face with a larger right eye and a small dark spot on the left side chin. The victim then died. The 

prosecution asserted that the defendant was born with a large right eye and has a noticeable wart 

of the left side of his chin. The defendant’s attorney objects to the admission of the sketch. 

 

How should the Court rule? 

 

 

A. The court should not admit the sketch because is inadmissible opinion. 

B. The court should not admit the sketch because it is hearsay not within any exception. 

C. The court should admit the sketch as a dying declaration. 

D. The court should admit the sketch as a recorded recollection. 

 

 

 

         END OF EXAM 

 

    

                            HAPPY HOLIDAYS 

 



MASSACHUSETTS SCHOOL OF LAW 

EVIDENCE 

CLOSED BOOK FINAL EXAMINATION 

DECEMBER 12, 2022 
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                                                   SECTION: __________________ 
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THAT YOU ARE ENROLLED) ABOVE AND ALSO IN YOUR BLUE BOOK OR TYPED 

ANSWERS. DO NOT INCLUDE YOUR NAME. 

 

This is a three-hour examination.  Your success on this examination will depend on your careful 

analysis of the questions and the structure of your answers.  There will be no credit given for 

extended “treatises” on the areas of law presented by these questions, and you should therefore 

avoid any rambling discourses.  However, you should discuss with adequate particularity the issues 

and the applicable law for each question.  

 

It is mandatory that your answers exactly correspond to the number and/or letter of each 

question of this exam booklet (including subsections). Failure to do so shall result in point 

reductions. 

 

You will not receive any credit for answers written on this exam booklet. Your answers should be 

placed in your blue book or if typing on examsoft. 

 

This examination consists of twenty-two (22) questions. Twelve (12) questions are “essay” and 

ten (10) questions are “multiple choice”. The weight of each “essay” question is set forth within 

the question and should be the basis of your time allocation per question. The “multiple choice” 

questions are weighted at three (3) points each.  

 

It is imperative that you place your ANSWERS TO THE MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS in 
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No materials of any type are to be used in this examination.  Nor are you to discuss this examination 

with students from other sections unless, all examinations have been completed by all sections.  
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        EVIDENCE – FALL 2022 

     Professor Anthony A. Copani 

     

Essay Section – Twelve Questions 

 

 
QUESTION ONE – (8pts) 

 

Paul, a pedestrian, was struck and injured by a negligent hit and run driver while walking on 

Federal Street in Andover. Paul brought suit against Debra, claiming she was the driver. Debra 

denied she was involved in the accident, and by way of further defense alleged that Paul’s injury 

was due to his own negligence in walking on Federal Street while intoxicated. The license 

number of Debra’a car is XCX-596. The following occurred at trial 

 

Scenario One:  

 

Ed, an eyewitness, testified at trial on behalf of Paul, that he was at the scene and 

observed the accident. He testified that the license number of the car that struck Paul was 

XCX-596. 

 

A) Is Ed’s testimony admissible? State the basis for your answer. 

 

 

Scenario Two:  

 

Same facts as above, but now Ed is unable to remember the license plate number. Ed, 

after observing the accident, wrote the number down on a napkin that he pulled out of his 

pocket immediately after observing the accident. 

 

B) How can Ed’s memory be refreshed? Discuss in detail the foundational 

requirements and procedure to refresh memory.  

 

 

Scenario Three:  

 

After following the procedure you have set forth in your answer to question B above, Ed 

still cannot remember the license plate number.  

 



C) How would you get the evidence of the license number into evidence. Discuss the 

issues and applicable FRE in your answer. 

 

 

 

 

QUESTION TWO - (9pts) 

James and Michael were driving their respective cars when they collided at an intersection. In a 

suit brought by James to recover damages, the critical issue was whether Michael had entered the 

intersection without stopping, in violation of a red traffic light. At a trial conducted on 

September 1, 2022, the Court heard the following evidence: 

 

 
A) James, during cross examination of Michael, introduced certified convictions of 

the following: 
 

1) 2018 felony for larceny; 
 

Should the Court allow this conviction into evidence? Discuss its admissibility and the 

test that the Court should apply.  

 
2) 2015 felony for perjury; 

The Court did not allow this conviction into evidence. Was the Court correct? 

What test the court should apply.  

 

3) Assume, for this question only that this is a criminal case.  Michael is 

charged with operating to endanger. The court, on cross examination, allowed a 

certified copy of Michael’s prior conviction dated 2014 of vehicular homicide into 

evidence.  Discuss its admissibility and the test that the court should apply. What 

issues should the Defense counsel raise. 

 

 

QUESTION THREE - (8pts) 

 

On September 1, 2022, at approximately 6:00 am, Martha was awakened by her boyfriend, Jim, 

who lived with her in an apartment in Andover. Martha telephoned her mother saying that Jim 

would not let her leave to go to work and he was going to kill her. Martha frantically asked her 

mother to call 911. Jim grabbed the phone and disconnected the call. Martha’s mother 

immediately called the police. In the meantime, Jim ran out of the apartment and as he reached 

the street, he saw a police cruiser. He then approached the officers who were seated in the cruiser 

and told them that he had hurt his girlfriend. Jim was covered in blood and had cuts to his face 

and hands. The police found Martha in her apartment dead of multiple stab wounds. 

 



Jim claims that he acted in self-defense.  At Jim’s murder trial, the Commonwealth called 

Martha’s mother to the stand to testify as to what Martha stated during their telephone 

conversation that morning. 

 

Defense counsel objects. What are the issues raised by this fact pattern? 

 

 

QUESTION FOUR - (5pts)   

 

This is a robbery prosecution. The victim testifies on direct as follows: 

 

Q. (By prosecutor) Ms. Adams, do you see the man who robbed you in court 

today? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Please point to him and describe what he's wearing. 

A. He's the man right over there (pointing to the defendant) wearing the brown 

pants and white shirt. 

 

Prosecutor: May the record show that the witness has pointed to the defendant? 

Judge: Yes. 

 

Q. Ms. Adams, you also attended a lineup? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you identify anyone? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What did you tell the detective at the 

lineup?  

 

Defendant: Objection (See below response the witness were allowed to answer) 

  

A.  I told the detective that the defendant, who was one of the people in the 

lineup, was the one who robbed me. 

 

 a) Who is the Declarant? 

 b) Who is the Witness? 

 c) Is the statement Hearsay? Explain your answer. 

 

 

QUESTION FIVE – (5pts) 

 

Same facts as QUESTION FOUR ABOVE. The victim has no memory of the lineup 

and has been unable to identify anyone in court. The prosecution calls a detective as 

its next witness: 

 

Q. (By prosecutor) Detective Peterson, you ran the lineup? 



A. I did. 

Q. The victim, Ms. Adams, was present? 

A. She was. 

Q. What did Ms. Adams tell you at the lineup? 

 

Defendant: Objection, it's hearsay. 

 

a) Who is the Declarant? 

 b) Who is the Witness? 

 c) Is the statement Hearsay? Explain your answer. 

 

 

QUESTION SIX - (5pts) 

 

Compare and contrast, “Admissions” with “Declaration Against Interests” listing five major 

distinctions. In your blue book, draw a “T” chart and label the left column “Admissions” and the 

right column, “Declarations Against Interests”. Number the columns “1 through 5”. Failure to set 

up columns will result in point reductions.  

 

If you are typing your answers, instead of a “T” column, label your answers with the heading of 

“Admissions” and list the distinctions “1 through 5” and the heading of “Declarations Against 

Interests” and list the distinctions “1 through 5.” 

 

 

QUESTION SEVEN - (5pts) 

 
Matt ordered a cheeseburger at Will’s Pub. Within hours of eating the burger, he became 

violently ill and had to be rushed to the emergency room. Matt nearly died on the 

ambulance ride to the hospital, but emergency personnel were able to restart his heart 

using a portable defibrillator. His heart, however, was permanently damaged. Matt 

filed a products liability action against the pub and the distributer of the meat. At trial, 

the Matt’s attorney called the bartender to the stand to testify that the day after the 

accident, a delivery truck driver from the meat manufacturer said to him, "I heard about 

last night. I'll bet it was the burger, wasn't it? The distributer mixes in a meat substitute to 

the meat in order to increase the weight per pound; everyone knows it's poison."  

 

The defense attorney objects on hearsay grounds. 

 

How should the Court rule? Explain your answer. 

 

 

QUESTION EIGHT – (5pts) 

 



Professor Copani has a nephew named “Dante” who was born and raised in southern Italy. 

Recently, Dante came to the United States to visit with Professor Copani. This was his first 

venture outside of Italy and he was excited to see all the famous landmarks and institutions.  

 

During his stay, Professor Copani invited Dante to the Massachusetts School of Law. While 

there, he sat in Professor Copani’s Evidence Class. Dante had always expressed an interest in 

becoming an attorney in Italy. While in class, Dante immediately became attracted to a female 

student. The both of them made eye contact throughout the class.  

 

Ted, one of the students in the class, noticed this interaction and decided to have some fun. Ted 

was aware of a custom in southern Italy where, if a male was attracted to a female, it was a sign 

of affection for him to “pat her butt”.  As the female student was walking out of the class, Dante 

was walking closely behind her. Ted cut in between them and then “patted the female’s butt” and 

then quickly moved away. 

 

The female student immediately turned and saw Dante and yelled at him, “How dare you slap 

my butt!” Dante, looked at her and said nothing. The female student has now brought assault and 

battery charges against Dante. 

 

What evidence will the Commonwealth attempt to introduce at trial against Dante?  What 

is the likelihood that the Court will admit this evidence?  Explain your answer applying the 

Federal Rules of Evidence. 

 

 

QUESTION NINE - (5pts)  

 

The Plaintiff, Wilma, claims to be a widow. Wilma is suing the All-Life Insurance Company for 

payment of a life insurance policy on her husband, Harry. The only issue being contested is the 

question of whether or not Harry is dead. 

 

Wilma takes the stand and testifies that she has not heard from her husband in over seven years. 

(There is a presumption of death if a person has been missing for seven or more years.)  

 

Wilma further offers to testify that on the first night her husband was gone which was on April 1, 

2012, she found a note on the refrigerator in Harry’s handwriting, saying, “I’m off to catch 

Eastern Flight 257 to Miami with Jack. I’ll be back tomorrow night.” She has not heard from him 

since and cannot find the note. Jack is also missing.  

 

Is her testimony admissible? Discuss the issues raised by this fact pattern. 

 

     

QUESTION TEN - (5pts) 

 

Sally brings a tort action against Roger, claiming that she contracted herpes from him, and that he 

negligently failed to inform her that he was infected with herpes when they had sexual relations. 



Roger defends, contending that Sally probably contracted herpes from David, with whom she had 

a sexual relationship prior to meeting Roger.  David is now living in Thailand.  Roger seeks to call 

Wendy as a witness, who would testify that at the time Sally and David’s relationship was ongoing, 

David said to her: 

 

“I’ve got herpes, but it doesn’t bother me.  They have drugs for it now.” 

 

Sally’s attorney objects. 

 

What are the issues? How should the Court rule?  Explain your answer. 

 

 

QUESTION ELEVEN – (5pts) 

 

This is a personal injury case. The plaintiff claims her rheumatoid arthritis was caused by trauma. 

The plaintiff calls a medical expert who testifies on direct examination that the plaintiff's arthritis 

was caused by the trauma from the vehicle collision.  On cross-examination, the following 

happens: 

 

 

Q.  (By defendant's lawyer) Dr. Ginsberg, your opinion is that Mrs. Smith's rheumatoid 

arthritis was caused by the trauma she received from the collision, is that right? 

 

A.  Yes, that's my opinion. 

 

Q.  You can make that causal connection? 

 

A.  That's what I believe. 

 

Q.  What does the word "etiology" mean? 

 

A.  It simply means the origin or cause of something. 

 

Q.  Dr. Ginsberg, are you familiar with Cecil and Loeb's Textbook of Medicine? 

 

A.   Of course. 

 

Q That treatise is a reliable authority on internal medicine, isn't it? 

 

A.  Yes. 

 

Q.  In fact, it's a popular textbook in medical schools? 

 

A.  Yes. 

 

Q  The most recent edition, you would consider that authoritative, wouldn't you? 



 

A.  Yes. 

 

Q. Dr. Ginsberg, I’m going to read a section from Cecil and Loeb’s Textbook of Medicine.  

I’m giving you a copy of that page, as well as the court and lawyers.  On page 1413, it says: 

“The etiology of rheumatoid arthritis has not been finally determined.”  Do you agree with 

that statement? 

 

A. In general terms, yes. 

 

Defendant: Your Honor, we offer Page 1413 into Evidence as Exhibit 1. 

Plaintiff:  Objection. 

 

 How should the Court rule?  Is the Text hearsay? If admissible, is it for impeachment 

purposes or for the truth of the matter? Is the Exhibit admissible? Explain your 

answer. 

 

 

QUESTION TWELVE - (5pts) 

 

As Amanda lay dying of gunshot wounds after a robbery of her purse, she gasped, “I know my 

time is almost up, thanks to that gunshot wound.  I want you to know that it was Max who 

robbed me!” Amanda then lapsed into a coma. Amanda eventually recovered and travelled to 

Thailand to study a new sect of spiritualism. The prosecution offers Amanda’s statement against 

Max in his subsequent trial for robbery.  

 

Is Amanda’s statement admissible if offered by the prosecution? Explain your answer. 
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             EVIDENCE – FALL 2021 
     Professor Anthony A. Copani 
     

Essay Section - Seventeen Questions 
 
  
QUESTION ONE (3pts) 

As NG lay dying of gunshot wounds after a robbery of her purse, she gasped, “I know my time is 
almost up, thanks to that gunshot wound.  I want you to know that it was Tim who robbed me!” 
NG then lapsed into a coma. NG eventually recovered and travelled to Thailand to study a new 
sect of spiritualism. The prosecution offers NG’s statement against Tim in his subsequent trial 
for robbery.  
 
Is NG’s statement admissible if offered by the prosecution? Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION TWO (3pts) 

The Defendant, Victoria, is charged with theft of Jacquelynn’s car. Victoria’s defense is that she 
had Jacquelynn’s consent. At trial, defendant, Victoria calls a witness who testifies as follows: 
 
Q. (By defendant’s lawyer) Danielle, were you at the party? 
A. Yes 
Q. Did you see my client, Victoria and the owner, Jacquelynn, talking that evening? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where and when was that? 
A. It was around 11:00 p.m. in the kitchen. There was just me and the two of them. 
Q. What did Jacquelynn say at the time? 
 
Prosecutor: Objection, your honor. 
Judge: Overruled. The witness may answer. 
 

A. Jacquelynn said to Victoria, “You can take may car to pick up the wine.” 
 
Was the Judge’s ruling correct? 
 
Is this hearsay? Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION THREE (3pts) 

This is a robbery prosecution. The victim testifies on direct as follows: 
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Q.  (By prosecutor) Ms. Jennifer do you see the man who robbed you in court today? 
A.  Yes, I do. 
Q.  Please point to him and describe what he's wearing. 
A.  He's the man right over there (pointing to the defendant) wearing the brown pants and 
 white shirt. 
 
Prosecutor: May the record show that the witness has pointed to the defendant? 
 
Judge: Yes.  
 
Q.  Ms. Jennifer, you also attended a lineup? 
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Did you identify anyone? 
A.  Yes, 
Q.  What did you tell the detective at the lineup? 
 
Defendant: Objection, your honor. It's hearsay.  
 
Judge: Overruled. The witness may answer. 
 
A. I told the detective that the defendant, who was one of the people in the lineup, was the 
one who robbed me. 
 
Was the court's ruling correct? Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION FOUR (3pts) 

Aster sends a letter to Brittany defaming her by stating that she is a liar, a cheat and is not a 
person who can be trusted when it comes to money.  Aster also sends a copy of this letter to 
Brittany’s friend Evelyn. Brittany brings suit against Aster for defamation.  
 
At trial, Brittany testifies about the content of the letter. Aster’s attorney objects.  
 
A) How should the Court Rule? State your reasons. 
 
Evelyn is next called to the stand. Evelyn begins to testify about the contents of the letter. Aster’s 
attorney objects. 
  
B) How should the court rule? State your reasons. 
 
 
QUESTION FIVE (3pts) 

This is an assault prosecution in which the defendant is charged with beating his former 
girlfriend.  The defendant calls a witness, Ms. Isabella who testifies on direct examination that 
she never saw the defendant beat his girlfriend. On cross-examination, the following happens: 
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Q. (By Prosecutor) Ms. Isabella you claim that you’ve never seen the defendant beat his 
girlfriend? 

A. That’s right. 
Q. Well, didn’t you tell my investigator, Mr. Donald, a few weeks ago that you saw the 

defendant beat his wife? 
 
Defendant: Objection, your honor. May we approach? 
 
Judge: You may. (Lawyers come to the bench.) What’s the basis for your objection? 
 
Defendant: It is Hearsay. 
 
Judge:  Sustained. 
 
Was the Judge’s ruling correct? Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION SIX (3pts) 

Collin became ill and was rushed to the local hospital’s emergency room. The Doctor 
at the emergency room had Collin taken by ambulance to the Covid Clinic of Mass 
General Hospital. 
 
Can this be used at trial (assuming it is relevant) as evidence of Collin 
contracting Covid. Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION SEVEN (3pts) 

The other day Susan, a law student, tweeted that Megan stole her class notes and 
outlines. Lizzy, who was a recipient of the tweet, retweeted same to her followers. 
Megan, who denied the allegation, commenced suit against Lizzy for defamation.  
 
What evidence can be introduced at trial by Megan against Lizzy? Explain the 
basis of your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION EIGHT (5pts) 
 
Compare and contrast, “Admissions” with “Declaration Against Interests” listing five major 
distinctions. In your blue book, draw a “T” chart and label the left column “Admissions” and the 
right column, “Declarations Against Interests”. Number the columns “1 through 5”. Failure to set 
up columns will result in point reductions.  
 
If you are typing your answers, instead of a “T” column, label your answers with the heading of 
“Admissions” and list the distinctions “1 through 5” and the heading of “Declarations Against 
Interests” and list the distinctions “1 through 5.” 
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QUESTION NINE (5pts) 
 
Keith is indicted on charges of murdering James.  Keith doesn’t deny killing James but raises a 
temporary  
insanity defense. Keith claims that James induced him to drink a beverage containing a newly 
discovered “herbal type” substance which caused Keith to go “bersek” which resulted in him 
killing James. 
 
To support his defense, Keith seeks to call Dr. Slip, a board-certified psychiatrist, to provide expert 
witness testimony on the effects that the “beverage” had on Keith’s mental state. This opinion was 
based upon a theory that Dr. Slip recently discovered and developed.  
 
If permitted, Dr. Slip would testify that the effect of this beverage on a person is that he loses 
control and acts purely instinctively, causing the person to be unable to control the nature of his 
acts.  Dr. Slip would further testify that he examined Keith and concluded that he did suffer from 
the effects of the drink and thus was not legally sane when he stabbed Peter. 
 
The prosecution objects to the testimony.  How should the court rule? Explain your answer 
in detail. 
 
 
QUESTION TEN (5pts) 
 
Matt ordered a cheeseburger at Will’s Pub. Within hours of eating the burger, he became 
violently ill and had to be rushed to the emergency room. Matt nearly died on the 
ambulance ride to the hospital, but emergency personnel were able to restart his heart 
using a portable defibrillator. His heart, however, was permanently damaged. Matt 
filed a products liability action against the pub and the distributer of the meat. At trial, 
the Matt’s attorney called the bartender to the stand to testify that the day after the 
accident, a delivery truck driver from the meat manufacturer said to him, "I heard about 
last night. I'll bet it was the burger, wasn't it? The distributer mixes in a meat substitute to 
the meat in order to increase the weight per pound; everyone knows it's poison."  
 
The defense attorney objects on hearsay grounds. 
 
How should the Court rule? Explain your answer. 
 
 
QUESTION ELEVEN (5pts) 
 
Coyne and Malaguti were driving their respective cars when they collided at an intersection. In a 
suit brought by Coyne to recover damages, the critical issue was whether Malaguti had entered 
the intersection without stopping, in violation of a red traffic light. At a trial conducted on 
September 1, 2021, the Court heard the following evidence: 
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Coyne, during cross examination of Malaguti, introduced the following: 
 
       A)  Certified copy of a 2016 felony for operating to endanger. 

 
The Court allowed this conviction into evidence. Discuss its admissibility and the 
standard that the Court should apply. 

 
       B)  2014 felony for perjury; 

 The Court did not allow this conviction into evidence. Discuss its admissibility 
 and the standard the court should apply. 
 
 

QUESTION TWELVE (5pts) 
 
Same fact as Question One but instead of a civil action, Malaguti is charged criminally with operating 
to endanger causing serious bodily injury to Coyne. 
 

 Coyne, during cross examination of Malaguti, introduced the following: 
 
   A) Certified copy the 2016 felony for operating to endanger. 

 
The Court allowed this conviction into evidence. Discuss its admissibility and the         
standard that the Court should apply. 
 

                B) Assume the same facts above, except that Malaguti’s attorney filed a Motion in Limine 
seeking the Court to rule in advance that the felony conviction for operating to endanger would 
not be admissible. The Court denied the Motion. Malaguti’s attorney stated that, as a result, he is 
not putting Malaguti on the stand to testify and is preserving the issue as a ground for appeal if 
there is a guilty verdict. How will the Court rule on appeal? Discuss the issue. 
 
 

QUESTION THIRTEEN (5pts) 
 
Willow is the Plaintiff in a personal injury action. She calls her friend, Stephanie, to testify that 
the day after the accident, Willow complained to her that she was feeling head and back pains. 
 
 A) Are Willow’s statements to Stephanie’s admissible as proof that Willow experienced 
 those symptoms? 
 
 B)  Willow was taken to the emergency room by ambulance, while on route, she told the 
 EMT that the person who collided with her vehicle had gone through the red light 
 traveling at 60mph, stuck her in the driver’s side, and was drunk. Is this testimony 
 admissible? 
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QUESTION FOURTEEN (5pts) 
 
Professor Copani has a nephew named “Dante” who was born and raised in southern Italy. 
Recently, Dante came to the United States to visit with Professor Copani. This was his first 
venture outside of Italy and he was excited to see all the famous landmarks and institutions.  
 
During his stay, Professor Copani invited Dante to the Massachusetts School of Law. While 
there, he sat in the evidence class. Dante had always expressed an interest in becoming an 
attorney in Italy. While in class, Dante immediately became attracted to a female student. They 
both made eye contact throughout the class.  
 
Joshua, one of the students, noticed this interaction and decided to have some fun. Joshua was 
aware of a custom in southern Italy where, if a male was attracted to a female, it was a sign of 
affection for him to “pat her butt”.  As the female student was walking out of the class, Dante 
was walking closely behind her. Joshua cut in between them and then “patted the female’s butt” 
and then quickly moved away. 
 
The female student immediately turned and saw Dante and yelled at him, “How dare you slap 
my butt!” Dante looked at her and said nothing. The female student has now brought assault and 
battery charges against Dante.  
 
Will, who was in class, told Taylor that it was him that “patted the butt” of the female student. 
 
 
A) What evidence will the Commonwealth attempt to introduce at trial against Dante. 
What is the likelihood that the Court will admit this evidence?  Explain your answer 
applying the federal rule of evidence that is applicable. 
 
B) What are the issues to determine whether Will’s testimony would be allowed? 

 
 

QUESTION FIFTEEN (5pts) 
 
This is a robbery prosecution. The defense claims that a person named, Bryan, is the one who 
committed the robbery and set up Pedro, the defendant. Bryan is subpoenaed as a witness for 
trial but asserts his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination in court. The next 
witness called to the stand is Kyzer who testifies that he was with Bryan at his house two days 
after the robbery.  He stated also in attendance was Micah. Kyzer stated that Bryan said, “I set up 
Pedro so the police would arrest him instead of me. Can’t believe it worked.” 
 
The Prosecution objects to Kyzer’s testimony as to what Bryan said. 
 
Is Kyzer’s testimony admissible? Is this hearsay. Discuss the issues. 
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QUESTION SIXTEEN (5pts)  
 
The Plaintiff, Wilma, claims to be a widow. Wilma is suing the All-Life Insurance Company for 
payment of a life insurance policy on her husband, Harry. The only issue being contested, 
however, is the question of whether or not Harry is dead. 
 
Wilma takes the stand and testifies that she has not heard from her husband in over seven years. 
(There is a presumption of death if a person has been missing for seven or more years.)  
 
Wilma further offers to testify that on the first night her husband was gone which was on April 1, 
2010, she found a note on the refrigerator in Harry’s handwriting, saying, “I’m off to catch 
Eastern Flight 257 to Miami with Jack. I’ll be back tomorrow night.” She has not heard from him 
since and cannot find the note. Jack is also missing.  
 
Is her testimony admissible? Discuss the issues.       
 

 
QUESTION SEVENTEEN (14pts) 
 
Mark is charged with murdering Laura. Mark and Laura have been involved in a significant 
dating relationship.  During this relationship, they argued frequently resulting in Mark being 
physically abusive to her. 
 
One day while visiting Laura at her home, Mark lost his temper and punched Laura several times 
in the stomach causing her to drop to the floor in great pain. 
 
While lying on the floor, Laura called 911 on her cell phone and stated to the operator that her 
boyfriend was beating her. At this point, Mark immediately ran out of the house. Laura, in 
response to the operator’s questioning, told the operator that Mark had left the house and gave a 
physical description of Mark and what he had done to her. At this time her neighbor, Jennifer, 
went to Laura’s house to determine the cause of the commotion. Laura answered the door and 
while crying hysterically, stated that Mark had punched her in the stomach several times causing 
her to fall to the floor in great pain.  
 
Shortly thereafter, the police arrived at the house and Laura gave Officer Smith a detailed 
description as to how Mark beat her that day and how he had done so frequently in the past.   
 
The police searched the area but were unable to locate Mark.  Two weeks later, Mark showed up 
at Laura’s home and shot and killed her.  At trial, Mark testifies that he shot Laura in self-
defense, thinking that she was advancing on him with a knife.  To rebut the self-defense claim 
the prosecution seeks to offer the following into evidence: 
 

a) Laura’s statements to the 911 Operator; 



 10 

b) Laura’s statement to Office Smith; 
c) Laura’s statement to Jennifer; 

 
 
How should the Court rule on each statement? What issues arise from this fact pattern?   
 
         
 
    Multi-State Section Follows 
     On next page 
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               EVIDENCE – FALL 2021 
              Professor Anthony A. Copani 
 

Multi-State Section  
Ten Questions – (2 points each) 
    
QUESTION ONE 

During a trial, a man sought to have hospital admission records admitted. He wanted to 

demonstrate that he received medical treatment, after a vehicle accident, at a hospital that 

was operated as a non-profit. At the time the man was admitted to the hospital, the hospital 

was extremely busy and failed to create admission records for the man. When the man 

contacted the hospital regarding the trial, the hospital realized its mistake and created 

hospital admission records for the man. The man intended to introduce the records into 

evidence through the testimony of the head of the hospital’s admissions office, who was the 

custodian of the records. The defendant objected based on impermissible hearsay. The man’s 

attorney countered that the records were admissible under the records of a regularly 

conducted activity hearsay exception. 

Is the court likely to allow the introduction of the records? 
 
   A) No, because the records do not satisfy the records of a regularly conducted  
            activity hearsay exception. 
 
   B) No, because the hospital is operated as a non-profit and not a for profit      
           business. 
 
           C) Yes, because the records satisfy the records of a regularly conducted  
            activity hearsay exception. 
 
   D) Yes, because the records are not hearsay. 
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QUESTION TWO 
 
The CEO of a small company participated in an important meeting of the board of directors, 
in which a number of new policies were enacted. The CEO had her assistant take notes 
during the meeting, which the assistant later formatted into a memorandum. The CEO 
reviewed the memorandum and signed her name at the bottom, confirming its accuracy. The 
company then implemented the new policies. Several shareholders of the company filed suit 
against the company and the CEO in federal court, due to these new policies. 
 
At a trial by jury, the CEO testified on her own behalf about the meeting. The CEO explained 
that, at the time of the meeting, she was taking medication which affected her memory and 
did not recall the substance of the meeting. The CEO then attempted to introduce the 
memorandum that she had signed. The shareholders objected to the introduction of the 
memorandum, stating that it constituted inadmissible hearsay. The CEO’s attorney 
responded by stating that the memorandum was admissible under the recorded recollection 
hearsay exception. 

Is the court likely to allow the introduction of the memorandum as a recorded recollection? 

  

  A) No, because the CEO was not available. 

  B) No, because the memorandum was written by the Assistant and not the  
                 CEO. 

  C) Yes, and the memorandum may be received as an exhibit by the jury. 

  D) Yes, and the memorandum may not be received as an exhibit by the jury. 
 
  
 
QUESTION THREE 
 
A man and a woman were walking along the sidewalk when they saw a car traveling well 
over the posted speed limit. The woman calmly mentioned to the man, “That car is going 
fast.” The car passed them and, moments later, was involved in an accident with a federal 
government postal carrier. Both the driver of the car and the postal carrier suffered serious 
injuries. The driver filed a civil complaint against the postal carrier’s employer, the 
government, in federal court. Prior to trial, the woman informed the government that she 
was nervous about testifying. For that reason, the government called the man to testify about 
the woman’s statement. The driver objected to the testimony as inadmissible hearsay. The 
government’s attorney was young and unfamiliar with the Federal Rules of Evidence. For 
that reason, the government’s attorney responded that the woman’s statement was 
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admissible under either the present sense impression hearsay exception or the excited 
utterance hearsay exception. 

Is the court likely to allow the woman’s statement to be introduced? 

 

  A) No, because the woman was not unavailable. 

  B) No, because the woman was not under any stress of excitement. 

  C) Yes, because the woman’s statement satisfies the excited utterance hearsay 
                exception. 

   D) Yes, because the woman’s statement satisfies the present sense impression        
             hearsay exception. 

 

 QUESTION FOUR 

 
A speeding car swerved onto a sidewalk, narrowly missing a man and woman. The woman 
dived out of the path of the car and this incident induced a severe panic attack, which lasted 
almost two hours. The woman was finally able to speak toward the end of    her panic attack 
and commented to the man, “That car was going so fast.” The man and woman later learned 
that, after their near miss, the same car had been involved in an accident with a federal 
government postal carrier. Both the driver of the car and the postal carrier suffered serious 
injuries. The driver filed a civil complaint against the postal carrier’s employer, the 
government, in federal court. Prior to trial, the woman informed the government that she 
was nervous and did not want to testify. Therefore, the government called the man to testify 
about the woman’s statement. The driver objected to the testimony as inadmissible hearsay. 
The government’s attorney was young and unfamiliar with the Federal Rules of Evidence. 
For that reason, the government’s attorney responded that the woman’s statement was 
admissible under either the present sense impression hearsay exception or the excited 
utterance hearsay exception. 

Is the court likely to allow the woman’s statement? 
 
   A) No, because the woman did not make the statement immediately after she  
           was nearly struck by the car. 
   B) No, because the woman only requested not to testify and was not   
           unavailable. 
 
   C) Yes, because the woman’s statement satisfies the excited utterance hearsay    
             exception. 
 
   D) Yes, because the woman’s statement satisfies the present sense impression  
            hearsay exception. 
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QUESTION FIVE 
 
A defendant was on trial for robbery and criminal battery. These charges stemmed from the 
defendant shooting a customer while robbing a grocery store. The prosecution called the 
store manager to testify that it was company policy to prepare an incident report describing 
any unusual events or incidents that took place in the store on the same day that the incident 
occurred. The store manager then further testified that he began preparing an incident report 
immediately after the police had arrested the defendant and left the store. The prosecution 
then offered into evidence the store manager's incident report. The report included a statement 
by a customer who witnessed the incident and was unavailable to testify. According to the 
statement, which was made an hour after the police had arrested the defendant, the witness 
identified the defendant and said, "He shot that woman, and I thought she was going to die." 
The defendant objected to the introduction of the incident report. 

How should the court rule on the defendant's objection? 
 
   A) To overrule the objection, because the incident report is admissible as a   
           record of regularly conducted activity. 
 
   B) To overrule the objection, because the witness's statement was a present  
         sense impression. 
 
    C) To sustain the objection, because the incident report is inadmissible double  
         hearsay. 
 
   D) To sustain the objection, because the incident report was prepared in        
          anticipation of litigation. 
 
QUESTION SIX 
 
A man was charged with the murder of his ex-wife. The police alleged that the ex-wife went 
to visit the man before the two became involved in an argument that resulted in the ex-wife 
being killed. Before the ex-wife went to visit the man, she called her mother and told her, 
“I’m going to go and visit that no-good ex-husband of mine [the man] and give him a piece 
of my mind.” During the trial, the prosecution called the mother to testify about the ex-wife’s 
statement. The man’s defense attorney objected to the testimony, stating that it was 
inadmissible hearsay. 
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Is the mother’s testimony admissible? 
 
     A) No, because the ex-wife's statement does not fall within any exception to the 
           hearsay rule. 
 
     B) No, because the ex-wife did not believe that her death was imminent. 
 
     C) Yes, because the ex-wife’s statement described her then-existing state of  
          mind. 
 
     D) Yes, because the ex-wife’s statement is not hearsay. 

 
 QUESTION SEVEN 
 
A boyfriend borrowed his girlfriend’s car when his failed to start one winter morning. Because 
the roads were icy, the boyfriend drove with extra caution. However, when another driver ran a 
stop sign, the boyfriend was unable to stop in time, and he collided with the other car that was 
operated by a female. The boyfriend rushed over to the other driver’s car where he found her 
bleeding profusely from a head injury. The boyfriend said, “I’m so sorry – I just know there must 
have been something I could have done to avoid this.” He then offered to pay all of her hospital 
bills. 
 
When the boyfriend received that astronomical bill to repair his girlfriend car, he decided to 
withdraw his offer to the other driver. If the other driver commences suit, which of the following 
evidence will be admissible. 
 
  A) The boyfriend’s statement regarding his fault for the accident and his offer to  
  pay the driver’s medical bills are both admissible on the issue of negligence. 
 
  B) The boyfriend’s statement regarding his fault for the accident is admissible on  
  the issue of negligence, but his offer to pay the driver’s medical bills is not  
  admissible. 
 
  C) Neither the boyfriend’s statement regarding his fault for the accident nor his  
  offer to pay the driver’s medical bills is admissible on the issue of negligence. 
 
  D) The boyfriend’s statement regarding his fault for the accident is not admissible 
  on the issue of negligence, but his offer to pay the driver’s medical bills is   
  admissible. 
 

QUESTION EIGHT 

A plaintiff brought an action to recover child support from her ex-husband. She 
obtained several years of her ex-husband’s monthly credit card statements, totaling 
30,000 pages. In preparation for trial, the plaintiff hired an expert to prepare graphs to 
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establish the ex-husband’s excessive spending habits. Based on the information 
contained in the credit card statements, the expert compiled a number of graphs, which 
the plaintiff sought to introduce into evidence. During the discovery period, all credit 
card statements were made available for copying to the defense counsel. At trial, the 
defendant objected to the introduction of the graphs into evidence. 

How will the court rule on the objection? 

 
   A) To sustain the objection, because the best evidence rule requires the    
           production of the credit card statements. 
 
   B) To sustain the objection, because the credit card statements must be produced 
        to prove their contents. 
 
   C) To overrule the objection, because the graphs are summaries of voluminous  
        records. 
   D) To overrule the objection, because the graphs were compiled by an expert. 
 

QUESTION NINE 

 

A woman was injured when a drunk driver hit her in a head-on collision. The woman sued 
the driver for her extensive injuries. During trial, the woman called her doctor as a witness to 
testify as to her injuries. After the woman rested her case, the driver then also called the 
woman's doctor as a witness. The doctor was uncooperative, and the driver began to ask the 
doctor leading questions. The woman immediately objected, stating leading questions were 
impermissible. The driver countered that the doctor was a hostile witness, and the trial judge 
agreed. 

How should the trial judge rule on the woman's objection? 
 
   A) To overrule the objection because the doctor is a hostile witness. 
 
   B) To overrule the objection because the doctor is on cross-examination. 
 
   C) To sustain the objection because leading questions are always impermissible. 
   D) To sustain the objection, because leading questions are impermissible on  
         direct examination. 
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QUESTION TEN 
 

 A college student was on trial for involuntary manslaughter, resulting from the death of a 
fellow classmate. The prosecution alleged that the college student forced the classmate to 
consume large amounts of alcohol and illegal drugs as part of a "hazing" party. During trial, 
the prosecution called one of the college student's childhood friends to testify. The childhood 
friend testified that, during middle school, the college student had attempted to force him to 
consume copious amounts of alcohol and drugs. The college student's defense lawyer 
objected to the testimony, stating that it was not relevant. 

Should the defense lawyer succeed in their relevance objection? 
 

   A) No, because the testimony's probative value is not substantially outweighed 
             by any unfairly prejudicial effect. 
 

   B) No, because the testimony is relevant and admissible, regardless of any     
           prejudice. 

 
   C) Yes, because the childhood friend is not a party to the action against the  

           defendant. 
 
                 D) Yes, because the testimony's prejudicial effect outweighs its probative     
         value. 
 
 
  
 
 
         END OF MULTI-STATE SECTION 
 
 
               END OF EXAM 
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